

GOPEN ACCESS

Citation: Guo X, Tong J, Chen P, Fan W (2021) The suppression effect of emotional contagion in the COVID-19 pandemic: A multi-layer hybrid modelling and simulation approach. PLoS ONE 16(7): e0253579. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0253579

Editor: Hocine Cherifi, Unviersity of Burgundy, FRANCE

Received: April 5, 2021

Accepted: June 8, 2021

Published: July 28, 2021

Copyright: © 2021 Guo et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: We collected daily confirmed cases data of four cities in China: Guangzhou [1], Changsha [2], Nanjing [3] and Zhengzhou [4], from the official regional municipal health commission websites. Daily confirmed cases data of cities in the UK and the US were from the official UK Government website for data and insights on Coronavirus (COVID-19) [5] and COVID-19 Map by County and State from USA facts [6], respectively. We collected the population data of the cities in China, the UK and the US from National Bureau of Statistics of the People's **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

The suppression effect of emotional contagion in the COVID-19 pandemic: A multi-layer hybrid modelling and simulation approach

Xudong Guo D*, Junbo Tong , Peiyu Chen, Wenhui Fan

Department of Automation, Tsinghua University, Beijing, China

* gxd20@mails.tsinghua.edu.cn

Abstract

The entire world has suffered a lot since the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) in 2019, so simulation models of COVID-19 dynamics are urgently needed to understand and control the pandemic better. Meanwhile, emotional contagion, the spread of vigilance or panic, serves as a negative feedback to the epidemic, but few existing models take it into consideration. In this study, we proposed an innovative multi-layer hybrid modelling and simulation approach to simulate disease transmission and emotional contagion together. In each layer, we used a hybrid simulation method combining agent-based modelling (ABM) with system dynamics modelling (SDM), keeping spatial heterogeneity while reducing computation costs. We designed a new emotion dynamics model IWAN (indifferent, worried, afraid and numb) to simulate emotional contagion inside a community during an epidemic. Our model was well fit to the data of China, the UK and the US during the COVID-19 pandemic. If there weren't emotional contagion, our experiments showed that the confirmed cases would increase rapidly, for instance, the total confirmed cases during simulation in Guangzhou, China would grow from 334 to 2096, which increased by 528%. We compared the calibrated emotional contagion parameters of different countries and found that the suppression effect of emotional contagion in China is relatively more visible than that in the US and the UK. Due to the experiment results, the proposed multi-layer network model with hybrid simulation is valid and can be applied to the quantitative analysis of the epidemic trends and the suppression effect of emotional contagion in different countries. Our model can be modified for further research to study other social factors and intervention policies in the COVID-19 pandemic or future epidemics.

Introduction

Since December 2019, the outbreak of the novel coronavirus, which later the World Health Organization (WHO) named as severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2), has affected the world tremendously. As the disease rapidly spread from one country

Republic of China [7], Office for National Statistics of the UK [8] and the US Census Bureau [9], respectively. [1]Guangzhou Municipal Health Commission. http://wjw.gz.gov.cn/ztzl/xxfyygfk, 2020 (accessed 26 January 2021). [2]Changsha Municipal Health Commission. http://wsjkw. changsha.gov.cn/ztzl_1/fkxxgzbd/fkdt, 2020 (accessed 26 January 2021). [3]Henan Municipal Health Commission. http://wsjkw.henan.gov.cn/ ztzl/xxgzbdfyygfk/ygtb, 2020 (accessed 26 January 2021). [4] Jiangsu Municipal Health Commission. http://www.jiangsu.gov.cn/col/col76920/index. html, 2020 (accessed 26 January 2021). [5]The official UK Government website for data and insights on Coronavirus (COVID-19). https:// coronavirus.data.gov.uk, 2020 (accessed 26 January 2021). [6]US COVID-19 cases and deaths by state. https://usafacts.org/visualizations/ coronavirus-covid-19-spread-map, 2020 (accessed 26 January 2021). [7]National Bureau of statistics of the People's Republic of China. http:// www.stats.gov.cn, 2021 (accessed 26 January 2021). [8]Office for National Statistics of the UK. https://www.ons.gov.uk, 2021 (accessed 26 January 2021). [9] United States Census Bureau 2019 National and State Population Estimates. https://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-kits/ 2019/national-state-estimates.html, 2019 (accessed 26 January 2021).

Funding: The authors received no specific funding for this work.

Competing interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

to another, the WHO declared the COVID-19 pandemic on 11 March 2020 [1]. Up to 22 January 2021, SARS-CoV-2 has infected more than 97 million people [2]. Hence, it is quite essential to establish a model to simulate the transmission of the virus and provide useful guidance for public health decision-makers.

There are already many existing ways to model the process of disease transmission. For instance, the Susceptible-Exposed-Infected-Recovered (SEIR) model [3], is based on system dynamics modelling (SDM). With the simple structure, SEIR focuses on collective behaviors, which means all the individuals' behaviors are supposed to be the same [4]. Lai et al. utilized the SEIR model to simulate and compare various non-pharmaceutical intervention methods adopted by China to contain the COVID-19 pandemic [5]. Besides, Chinazzi et al. [6] and Tian et al. [7] improved the traditional SEIR model and explored the suppression effect of traffic control on the COVID-19 pandemic. Though SDM has been widely used in epidemic modelling and analysis, individual heterogeneity is not considered because everyone is treated equally in SDM. What's more, only the overall infected number can be obtained by SDM, thus the phenomenon of clustering outbreaks and the spatial distribution of the epidemic cannot be observed.

Another simulation method agent-based modelling (ABM) could overcome the problems mentioned above. In most of the existing literature, agent-based models take every individual as an agent, so that each agent can have its own attributes. The links between the agents can reflect the epidemic trajectory and the visualization of the agents makes it possible to illustrate clustering outbreaks. Perez et al. combined ABM with GIS technology to visualize the spread of infectious diseases in an urban environment [8]. And Cuevas et al. used ABM to evaluate the COVID-19 transmission risks in facilities [9]. However, the experiments in [8, 9] only considered a small population of fewer than 1,000 people, when it comes to large-scale problems, ABM may cost too much computation power, which is usually not affordable.

Whichever method is used to model the dynamics of epidemic spreading, most of the current models only concentrate on disease transmission, omitting the important effects of the human responses to epidemics. Emotional contagion is the spread of affect or behavior from one in a crowd to another, serving as negative feedback to the epidemic [10]. Some researchers have focused on the mathematical modelling of the mechanism of the emotion spreading itself [11–14]. Mahmud et al. have adopted SDM to model the emotional contagion in the COVID-19 pandemic but the disadvantages of SDM still exist [15]. A hybrid method combining SDM with ABM could be applied to a comprehensive model to introduce emotional contagion into the process of disease transmission. However, such a model is yet to be established and emotional contagion has not been considered in the analysis of the COVID-19 pandemic, which motivated the present study.

In this study, we proposed a multi-layer network model with hybrid simulation to simulate disease transmission and emotional contagion at the same time, thus these two parts made up of a closed-loop system, interacting with each other. By coupling SDM and ABM, hybrid simulation in our model provided the advantages of each approach: spatial heterogeneity and clustering outbreak phenomenon for ABM and larger simulation size and analytical solution for SDM [16, 17]. Our model can be applied to mega-cities with more than ten million people and finish the computation within a few minutes just using the ordinary CPU. Based on our model, we further analysed the suppression effect of emotional contagion in the COVID-19 pandemic among different countries. The model was implemented in Anylogic software.

The paper is designed as follows. Section II describes the proposed multi-layer network model and explains the hybrid simulation methods in detail. Section III presents the validation results to evaluate the performance of our proposed model and studies the effect of emotional

contagion. Section IV illustrates our conclusions, the advantages and disadvantages of our proposed model as well as the future work based on our present study.

Methods

Data sources

We collected daily confirmed cases data of four cities in China: Guangzhou [18], Changsha [19], Nanjing [20] and Zhengzhou [21], from the official regional municipal health commission websites. Daily confirmed cases data of cities in the UK and the US were from the official UK Government website for data and insights on Coronavirus (COVID-19) [22] and COVID-19 Map by County and State from USA facts [23], respectively. We collected the population data of the cities in China, the UK and the US from National Bureau of Statistics of the People's Republic of China [24], Office for National Statistics of the UK [25] and the US Census Bureau [26], respectively. The data have been cleaned and attached in S1 File.

Multi-layer network model

To independently analyse the spread of disease and emotion, we implemented a multi-layer network model to separate the two processes. Specifically, the two layers are the disease transmission layer and the emotional contagion layer. Each layer is a network and each node represents a group of people, such as a community, a university or a company, etc. Infection or information sharing happens through the edges between these nodes. The networks in the two layers are independent because the panic usually spreads by virtual links like the Internet instead of physical contacts. The whole structure of our model is shown in Fig 1.



Fig 1. Overview of the multi-layer network model with hybrid simulation. SEIR (susceptible, exposed, infectious and recovered) and IWAN (indifferent, worried, afraid and numb) denote the states of the people inside a node. The nodes in the emotional contagion layer have more large-distance links than those in the disease transmission layer.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0253579.g001

Hybrid simulation

Usually, a wave of epidemic starts with cluster infection. Likewise, rumor and gossip are usually spread in a small circle first [27]. Thus, it is necessary to apply different methods to model the global and local transmission. We used agent-based modelling (ABM) to simulate the disease transmission and emotional contagion between the nodes at the community scale. And within the node, system dynamics modelling (SDM) was adopted to calculate at the individual level so that the simulation would be more accurate and would not bring too much extra computational cost. People inside a node are separated into several subgroups due to their infection state or emotion state. The state will change as the epidemic gets severe, following the SDM models. Once the virus or the panic message is sent from one node to another, the receiving node starts the local transmission and becomes able to spread, too. The global and the local processes run in parallel.

Agent-based modelling

Agent-based modelling was applied at the global level. Agents are connected bidirectionally to make up a network, thus each node in the network is an agent. If the nodes are linked randomly, as shown in Fig 2a, most of the nodes have a similar number of connections and the network is relatively homogeneous, which is not in accordance with our real world. According to Albert et al. [28], the scale-free network has higher heterogeneity, with few nodes connected by a lot of other nodes. The shape of scale-free networks is shown in Fig 2b. Approved by Albert et al. [28] and Grieshober et al. [29], connections in human society are usually fit to scale-free networks, like Facebook community networks. So in our model, the two networks in both of the layers are scale-free networks. Though the two networks are of the same type, they are independently generated and with different parameters, as there are distinct large-distance social interactions in the emotional contagion layer.

The interaction between the nodes in the two layers are similar. In the disease transmission layer, the node which has exposed or infected people inside is able to spread the virus to its neighbor nodes. We assumed that the neighbor was randomly chosen and as the time step of the simulation was one day, we assumed that the frequency of spreading was once a day. Similarly, the node with worried people can send panic messages to its neighbors to spread the emotion.

System dynamics modelling: Disease transmission

System dynamics modelling was used inside every node. Given in Fig 2c, we applied the traditional SEIR (susceptible, exposed, infectious and recovered) model to the disease transmission layer. People in one node are separated into these four groups (S, E, I, R), and the state changes by Eqs (1)-(5):

$$\frac{dS(t)}{dt} = -\frac{\beta S(t)I(t)}{N},\tag{1}$$

$$\frac{dE(t)}{dt} = \frac{\beta S(t)I(t)}{N} - \sigma E(t), \qquad (2)$$

$$\frac{dI(t)}{dt} = \sigma E(t) - \gamma I(t), \tag{3}$$



Fig 2. Illustration of the concepts and structures in our model. (a) Illustration of random network structure; (b) illustration of scale-free network structure; (c) illustration of SEIR (susceptible, exposed, infectious and recovered) model; (d) illustration of IWAN (indifferent, worried, afraid and numb) model. '+' denotes increase and '-' denotes decrease. Network visualization in (a) and (b) was done using the Pajek program for large network analysis [30].

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0253579.g002

$$\frac{dR(t)}{dt} = \gamma I(t),\tag{4}$$

$$N = S(t) + E(t) + I(t) + R(t),$$
(5)

Here, the exposed population (E) are the ones infected but asymptomatic, while the infectious population (I) refers to the symptomatic population. The dead people are included in the R state.

Notation	Description
S, E, I, R	The states of disease transmission: susceptible, exposed, infectious, recovered
β, σ, γ	The infection rate, the incubation rate, the probability of recovery or death
N	The population of a node
I _e , W, A, N _e	The states of emotional contagion: indifferent, worried, afraid, numb
ν	The transfer rate between the states of emotional contagion
с	The concern level in a node
n, m	The number of new confirmed cases in the city, the panic messages received by a node
w_n, w_m	The weights of <i>n</i> and <i>m</i> to calculate <i>c</i>
W _d	The weight that <i>c</i> decays in a day
<i>w</i> _c , <i>t</i>	The weight and threshold of <i>c</i> to calculate <i>v</i>
r_1, r_2	The reduction rate of β when one is in the worried state and afraid state

Table 1. Description of the notations used in our model.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0253579.t001

At first, all the population in a node are all in the S state. If the node receives the virus from another, then the SEIR transmission starts in this node: the exposed amount becomes one, and then more and more susceptible people in the node turn exposed, while the exposed turn infectious and then recovered. We list the notations used in the model in Table 1.

System dynamics modelling: Emotional contagion

The emotional contagion layer serves as negative feedback to the disease transmission layer. The more panic one feels, the more actions will be taken to prevent infection, such as washing hands more frequently, putting on a mask, etc. More specifically, these actions will reduce the infection rate β in the local disease transmission. So how can we quantitatively represent the emotion and the contagion process of emotion?

As shown in Fig 2d, we introduced a new SDM model, IWAN (indifferent, worried, afraid and numb) model, to divide individuals in the node into four classes based on the magnitude of emotion, and set up the bridges for different classes to transfer [13]. The four classes are indifferent (I_e), worried (W), afraid (A) and numb (N_e). As long as the node receives a panic message from another node, this process will come into operation with the change of one individual's state to W. Our IWAN model is given by Eqs (6)–(10):

$$\frac{dI_e(t)}{dt} = -\frac{\nu W(t)I_e(t)}{N} - \frac{\nu A(t)I_e(t)}{N},\tag{6}$$

$$\frac{dW(t)}{dt} = \frac{vA(t)I_e(t)}{N} + \frac{vW(t)I_e(t)}{N} - \frac{vA(t)W(t)}{N},$$
(7)

$$\frac{dA(t)}{dt} = \frac{\nu A(t)W(t)}{N} - \frac{\nu N_e(t)A(t)}{N},\tag{8}$$

$$\frac{dN_e(t)}{dt} = \frac{\nu N_e(t)A(t)}{N},\tag{9}$$

$$N = I_e(t) + W(t) + A(t) + N_e(t),$$
(10)

Different from the SEIR model in the disease transmission layer, here the transfer rate v is not a constant, instead, it varies as the virus spreads. To calculate the transfer rate v, we defined a new variable, concern level (*c*), to quantitatively describe the overall panic of a node. The relation between v and c can be defined as Eq (11):

$$\nu = \begin{cases} w_c \log(c), c \ge t \\ 0, c < t \end{cases}, \tag{11}$$

Namely, if the concern level is lower than the threshold t, v will remain zero until the concern level is high enough. Then we assume v and c follow a logarithmic function, with a linear weight w_c .

The concern level mainly comes from two sources: publicly available information (global) and information which comes from the social neighborhood (local). In our model, we chose two representative kinds of information as the sources: number of newly confirmed cases in this city (*n*) at the global level and panic messages spread from neighbor nodes (*m*) at the local level [31]. The corresponding weights for the two sources are denoted by w_n and w_m . When the concern level increases because of the outside sources, it will also decrease as time passes by. We assumed that the concern level decreased uniformly by w_d every day. In sum, the concern level can be obtained by Eq (12):

$$c = \int (mw_n + mw_m - w_d)dt, \qquad (12)$$

Then we are able to design the feedback mechanism from emotional contagion to disease transmission. When there's no interference, let the infection rate be β_0 . We assumed that people will put on masks in the worried state, reducing the infection rate by a constant r_1 . If people get into the afraid state, they are not going out unless necessary, causing a reduction of the infection rate by a constant r_2 . But people may get numb and relaxed as time passes by, and do not take actions to protect themselves anymore. According to Wang et al. [32], we set r_1 as 0.2, and we assumed r_2 as 0.02. In this way, we can get the updated infection rate $\beta(t)$ by Eq (13):

$$\beta(t) = \frac{\beta_0}{N} (I_e(t) + r_1 W(t) + r_2 A(t) + N_e(t)), \qquad (13)$$

Results

Parameter assumption

We list the assumptions in our model when conducting experiments on the actual data of the COVID-19 pandemic as follows. The infection rate β_0 is 0.05249 according to Yang et al. [33]. The incubation period of SARS-CoV-2 is believed to be between 2 days and 14 days [34–36], so we assumed the incubation period $\frac{1}{\sigma}$ complies with a triangle distribution ranging from 2 to 14 with a vertex at 7. Similarly, we assumed the duration of infection $\frac{1}{\gamma}$ complies with a triangle distribution ranging from 7 to 28 with a vertex at 14. The initial susceptible population was set as the resident population and we assumed that there were 500 communities in a city, so the number of nodes in a network was set as 500. We assumed that the first exposed case appeared 7 days before the first infected case confirmed and we set the number of initial exposed individuals as three. We assumed that people who recovered would not get infected again.



Fig 3. The cumulative number of infected persons in the cities of China. (a) Guangzhou, (b) Nanjing, (c) Zhengzhou, (d) Changsha. Actual data are fitted onto the curve (red circles).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0253579.g003

Simulation results in China

Our model performed well on the actual data from China, here we illustrate the simulation results of several cities in Fig 3, including Guangzhou, Nanjing, Zhengzhou and Changsha. We ran the Monte Carlo simulations 100 times from 14 January 2020 to 21 February 2020, after which the spread of the virus was basically controlled. We also tested our model at the provincial level in China and the results are shown in S2 File. The patterns of simulation results are close to that of the actual data. In Table 2, we compared the peak of the cumulative number of infected persons during the simulation period with the actual data and we listed the 95% credible interval of the simulation results. It can be seen that our model basically reflects the epidemic trends and is valid on different scales.

City	Actual data	Simulation result
Guangzhou	345	334 (95% CI: 324–346)
Nanjing	93	93 (95% CI: 90–97)
Zhengzhou	158	159 (95% CI: 152–167)
Changsha	242	244 (95% CI: 230–259)

Table 2. The peak of cumulative number of infected persons in the four cities of China: Guangzhou, Nanjing, Zhengzhou and Changsha.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0253579.t002

Emotional contagion in different countries

We also tested our model on the data from the UK and the US. The simulation duration was the same as the cities in China: 22 February 2020 to 1 April 2020 for London and 8 March 2020 to 15 April 2020 for New York. From Fig 4, we can see that the generalization of our model is good enough to suit different countries, even though the total confirmed cases and how people react to the epidemic may be quite different.

As analysed above, the emotional contagion layer slows down the original disease transmission. To verify the suppression effect, we conducted ablation experiments on the three cities in different countries, removing the emotional contagion layer while keeping all the rest parameters the same, shown as the dotted lines in Fig 4. Obviously, without considering the emotion, the simulation results would deviate greatly from the actual situation. The confirmed cases would grow exponentially and it took more time to reach the peak. For instance, the total confirmed cases in Guangzhou on 21 February 2020 grew from 334 to 2096, which increased by 528%. We can see that the suppression effect of emotional contagion cannot be ignored and it varies from country to country. This also leads us to think in another way, that it may be possible to quantitatively analyse the emotion variation by the parameters of the emotional contagion layer.

We compared the calibrated parameters in Guangzhou, London and New York in Table 3, and we got more evidence to prove that Guangzhou's emotional inhibition is relatively more effective among the three, while New York's is the least and London's is between them. Take a look at the two sources of the concern level in the city, the weights of panic caused by new confirmed cases news (10.0) and panic messages from other nodes (10.7) in New York are less than those in London (19.7 and 29.7, respectively) and Guangzhou (13.9 and 128.9, respectively), which means people in New York comparatively are not scared of the pandemic. When



Fig 4. The suppression effect of emotional contagion. (a) Guangzhou, China, (b) London, the UK and (c) New York, the US. The solid lines denote simulation results with the emotional contagion layer and the dotted lines denote results without the emotional contagion layer. Red circles denote the actual data.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0253579.g004

Table 3. The emotional contagion parameters in Guangzhou, London and New York. The up arrow denotes that the higher the parameter is, the more effective the emotional contagion will be and vice versa. Here, w_n and w_m denote the weights of the number of new confirmed cases in the city and the panic messages received. And w_c and t denote the weight and the threshold of the concern level.

City	w_n^{\uparrow}	w_m^{\uparrow}	w _c ↑	t↓
Guangzhou	13.9	128.9	40.0	119.2
London	19.7	29.7	18.2	222.0
New York	10.0	10.7	0.2	1049.0

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0253579.t003

considering the emotion spreading inside a node, the threshold for indifferent people to get worried (*t*) in New York is the highest (1049.0) while the transfer weight (w_c , 0.2) is lower than the other two. So it may take more time for people in New York to feel worried and put on masks to suppress the virus.

Sensitivity analysis

We also conducted a series of sensitivity analysis to understand the impact of changing emotional parameters on the simulation results. Take Guangzhou as an example, sensitivity analysis results of w_n , w_m and w_c are shown in Fig 5. When keeping other parameters fixed, the increase of any of these three parameters would reduce the peak number of cases and flatten the curve. That the confirmed cases are sensitive to the emotional parameters also provides good evidence that the suppression effect of emotional contagion is notable and should be considered when modelling the epidemic.

Discussion and conclusion

The outbreak of COVID-19 has caused great suffering to the human being. Due to the necessity and emergence of exploring the epidemic pattern, we proposed a multi-layer hybrid modelling and simulation approach to simulate disease transmission and emotional contagion together. Emotional contagion influences the self-protection degree of individuals and thus could suppress disease transmission. And the hybrid simulation method combines ABM and SDM to save computational cost while keeping the spatial heterogeneity, so our model can be applied to large-scale data, while the pure ABM is almost impossible for the high computation overhead. Besides, we designed a new emotion dynamics model IWAN (indifferent, worried, afraid and numb) to simulate emotional contagion inside a community during an epidemic.





https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0253579.g005

With calibration, the simulation results of our model were close to the actual data. Based on the simulation and sensitivity analysis, we proved the effects of emotional contagion in the prevention of disease spreading. We also found that people in China are most influenced by the emotion to take self-protection measures, compared with the US and the UK. The parameters in our model could explain the difference among the countries from different aspects, including new confirmed cases news and panic messages from neighbors.

The findings in our study suggest that decision-makers should take advantage of the suppression effect of emotional contagion to control the epidemic. For instance, rapid epidemic notification systems should be established and people should be encouraged to spread objective and accurate epidemic news, so that emotional contagion may be more effective to suppress the disease.

Our model still has some shortages. We only chose two kinds of information as the sources of the concern level, and in fact, the computation of emotion is much more complex and there may be some other factors. Besides, we did not adopt the real community distribution data so there may be differences with the actual situation.

A future direction for this study could be conducting experiments of different interventions based on our model, such as restricting the traffic among the communities or quarantining the community with a confirmed case, etc. More factors influencing emotion could also be added into our model, e.g. the effects of media during the pandemic may be revealed using the multi-layer network model.

In sum, the proposed multi-layer network model with hybrid simulation is valid and could be applied to the quantitative analysis of the epidemic trends and the suppression effect of emotional contagion.

Supporting information

S1 File. Daily confirmed cases data of Guangzhou, Changsha, Nanjing, Zhengzhou, New York and London.

(ZIP)

S2 File. Simulation results at the provincial level in China. (DOCX)

Author Contributions

Conceptualization: Xudong Guo, Peiyu Chen, Wenhui Fan. Data curation: Xudong Guo, Junbo Tong. Formal analysis: Xudong Guo, Peiyu Chen, Wenhui Fan. Investigation: Xudong Guo. Methodology: Xudong Guo, Wenhui Fan. Project administration: Xudong Guo. Software: Xudong Guo. Supervision: Wenhui Fan. Validation: Xudong Guo, Junbo Tong, Peiyu Chen.

Visualization: Xudong Guo, Junbo Tong.

Writing - original draft: Xudong Guo, Junbo Tong.

Writing - review & editing: Peiyu Chen, Wenhui Fan.

References

- 1. Pharmaceutical Technology. WHO declares Covid-19 outbreak a pandemic. 2020. https://www.pharmaceutical-technology.com/news/who-declares-covid-19-pandemic (26 January 2021, date last accessed).
- 2. Johns Hopkins Coronavirus Resource Center. 2020. https://coronavirus.jhu.edu (22 January 2021, date last accessed).
- Li MY, Muldowney JS. Global stability for the SEIR model in epidemiology. Math Biosci 1995; 125 (2):155–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/0025-5564(95)92756-5
- 4. Fast SM. Pandemic panic: A network-based approach to predicting social response during a disease outbreak [dissertation]. Massachusetts: Massachusetts Institute of Technology; 2014.
- 5. Lai S, Ruktanonchai NW, Zhou L, et al. Effect of non-pharmaceutical interventions to contain COVID-19 in China. Nature 2020; 585:410–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2293-x PMID: 32365354
- Chinazzi M, Davis JT, Ajelli M, et al. The effect of travel restrictions on the spread of the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak. Science 2020; 368:395–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.</u> aba9757 PMID: 32144116
- Tian H, Liu Y, Li Y, et al. An investigation of transmission control measures during the first 50 days of the COVID-19 epidemic in China. Science 2020; 368:638–42. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abb6105 PMID: 32234804
- Perez L, Dragicevic S. An agent-based approach for modelling dynamics of contagious disease spread. Int J Health Geogr 2009; 8:1–17.
- Cuevas E. An agent-based model to evaluate the COVID-19 transmission risks in facilities. Comput Biol Med 2020; 121:103827. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compbiomed.2020.103827
- 10. Lindzey G, Aronson E. The handbook of social psychology. Oxford, England: Addison-Wesley 1968.
- Zeng R, Zhu D. A model and simulation of the emotional contagion of netizens in the process of rumor refutation. Sci Rep 2019; 9:1–15.
- Stavrova O. How regional personality affects individuals' life satisfaction: A case of emotional contagion?. J Res Pers 2015; 58:1–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2015.06.005
- Xiong X, Li Y, Qiao S, et al. An emotional contagion model for heterogeneous social media with multiple behaviours. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 2018; 490:185–202. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.physa.2017.08.025</u>
- Chen G, Shen H, Chen G, et al. A new kinetic model to discuss the control of panic spreading in emergency. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 2015; 417:345–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physa.2014.09.055</u>
- Mahmud MS, Kamrujjaman M, Jubyrea J, et al. Quarantine vs Social Consciousness: A Prediction to Control COVID-19 Infection. Journal of Applied Life Sciences International 2020;20–7. https://doi.org/ 10.9734/jalsi/2020/v23i330150
- Yu B, Wang J, McGowan M, et al. Gryphon: a hybrid agent-based modelling and simulation platform for infectious diseases. In: Chai SK, Salerno JJ, Mabry PL, editors. International Conference on Social Computing, Behavioral Modeling, and Prediction. 2010, March; Springer, Berlin: Heidelberg. 2010. p. 199-207.
- Kasereka S, Kasoro N, Chokki AP. A hybrid model for modelling the spread of epidemics: Theory and simulation. In: 2014 4th International Symposium ISKO-Maghreb: Concepts and Tools for knowledge Management (ISKO-Maghreb). 2014, November; Algiers. IEEE. 2014. p. 1–7.
- Guangzhou Municipal Health Commission. 2020. <u>http://wjw.gz.gov.cn/ztzl/xxfyyqfk</u> (26 January 2021, date last accessed).
- Changsha Municipal Health Commission. 2020. http://wsjkw.changsha.gov.cn/ztzl_1/fkxxgzbd/fkdt (26 January 2021, date last accessed).
- Henan Municipal Health Commission. 2020. http://wsjkw.henan.gov.cn/ztzl/xxgzbdfyyqfk/yqtb (26 January 2021, date last accessed).
- Jiangsu Municipal Health Commission. 2020. http://www.jiangsu.gov.cn/col/col76920/index.html (26 January 2021, date last accessed).
- Coronavirus (COVID-19) in the UK. The official UK Government website for data and insights on Coronavirus (COVID-19). 2020. https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk (26 January 2021, date last accessed).

- USAFACTS. US Coronavirus Cases and Deaths. Track COVID-19 data daily by state and county. 2020. https://usafacts.org/visualizations/coronavirus-covid-19-spread-map. (26 January 2021, date last accessed).
- 24. National Bureau of statistics of the People's Republic of China. 2021. http://www.stats.gov.cn (26 January 2021, date last accessed).
- 25. Office for National Statistics of the UK. 2021. https://www.ons.gov.uk (26 January 2021, date last accessed).
- United States Census Bureau. 2019 National and State Population Estimates. 2019. https://www. census.gov/newsroom/press-kits/2019/national-state-estimates.html (26 January 2021, date last accessed).
- Zanette DH. Dynamics of rumor propagation on small-world networks. Phys Rev E 2002; 65:041908. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevE.65.041908
- Albert R, Jeong H, Barabasi AL. Error and attack tolerance of complex networks. Nature 2000; 406 (6794):378–82. https://doi.org/10.1038/35019019
- **29.** Grieshober L, Blair RH. Evaluating performance of link prediction in scale-free evolving networks and a Facebook community. Soc Netw Anal Min 2014; 4:183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13278-014-0183-7
- **30.** Mrvar A, Batagelj V. Analysis and visualization of large networks with program package Pajek. Complex Adaptive Systems Modeling 2016; 4(1):1–8.
- Funk S, Salathé M, Jansen VAA. Modelling the influence of human behaviour on the spread of infectious diseases: a review. Journal of the Royal Society Interface 2010; 7: 1247–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2010.0142</u>
- 32. Wang Y, Tian H, Zhang L, et al. Reduction of secondary transmission of SARS-CoV-2 in households by face mask use, disinfection and social distancing: a cohort study in Beijing, China. BMJ Glob Health 2020; 5:e002794. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2020-002794 PMID: 32467353
- Yang Z, Zeng Z, Wang K, et al. Modified SEIR and AI prediction of the epidemics trend of COVID-19 in China under public health interventions. J Thorac Dis 2020; 12:165. <u>https://doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2020</u>. 02.64 PMID: 32274081
- Li Q, Guan X, Wu P, et al. Early transmission dynamics in Wuhan, China, of novel coronavirus–infected pneumonia. N Engl J Med 2020; 382:1199–1207. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001316 PMID: 31995857
- Backer JA, Klinkenberg D, Wallinga J. Incubation period of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) infections among travellers from Wuhan, China, 20–28 January 2020. Euro Surveill 2020; 25:2000062.
- Guan W J, Ni Z Y, Hu Y, et al. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med 2020; 382(18):1708–1720. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2002032 PMID: 32109013